IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO: 94,154

RICARDO GONZALEZ,

Appellant,

-V-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICARDO GONZALEZ

William M. Norris, Esq.
WILLIAM M. NORRIS, P.A.
Fla. Bar No. 309990
3225 Aviation Avenue, Suite 300
Coconut Grove, Florida 33133
Telephone: (305) 860-0988

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE, SIZE AND STYLE

14 point, New Times Roman, proportional

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. DISPOSITION AND COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURT BELOW:

Appellant Ricardo Gonzalez was indicted on February 4, 1992, in the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, with several codefendants. The indictment charged first degree murder of a law enforcement officer (Count I) and charged other offenses which served as statutory aggravators at appellant's penalty phase hearing, such as armed robbery with a firearm, aggravated assault and grand theft third degree, all occurring on January 3, 1992 (R:1-5).

Appellant Gonzalez, together with co-defendants Leonardo Franqui and Pablo San Martin were tried together, to a single jury. He was found guilty of all charges and his penalty phase on the first degree murder conviction was joined with the penalty phase for co-defendants Franqui and San Martin to the same jury that had considered the guilt phase.

The jury returned an advisory verdict recommending death and the sentencing court imposed a sentence of death. Ricardo Gonzalez appealed his conviction and his sentence to this court.

Appellant's conviction was upheld, but his sentence of death as to Count I was vacated and the case remanded for a new penalty phase hearing individualized as to Ricardo Gonzalez.

That penalty phase hearing was held on August 10 - 20, 1998. An advisory sentence of death was returned. After a *Spencer* hearing on September 4, the court entered its sentence of death against Appellant Ricardo Gonzalez on September 18, 1998.

This appeal follows.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. Voir Dire showed juror predisposition to punish murder of a police officer with death.

Procedural posture of this case, that is a penalty phase hearing in a first degree murder case focused on the Appellant himself for his part in the murder of a police officer during a bank robbery, produced a sharply focused voir dire. Voir dire was extensive, including seven of the fourteen volumes of transcript in the record. The court initially summoned fifty potential jurors, called a second panel of an additional twenty-five potential jurors and was required to summons thirty more. One hundred and five venireman were called to select a jury of twelve plus three alternates in this penalty phase hearing.

During the death qualification of the potential jurors, a number of them expressed an inability to impose the death sentence in any case. Most accepted the fact that their recommendation of death or life in prison without parole was to be based on a balancing of aggravators and mitigators. However, a number of the potential jurors expressed a predisposition in a case involving the killing of a law enforcement officer to return a sentence of death.

The voir dire of William Johnson is instructive. He had "no problem with the death penalty" (TR:722). He was more sophisticated in criminal matters than most, having been a police officer who spent a year in jail on a perjury conviction for which he was later pardoned (TR:723-4). He did not believe that the death penalty should be imposed in all first degree murder cases. He could weigh aggravating factors against mitigating factors with an open mind, recommending death if the aggravating factors had greater weight and life if the mitigating factors had greater weight (TR:722-23). When the facts of the case were broached, he became a less ideal juror. The Court asked: "Do you think that when someone has been convicted of a First Degree murder of a police officer, that the only sentence they should receive is the death penalty?" He responded: "Yes" (TR:724). He was rehabilitated by confirming that he could vote for life if the mitigators were there, but his predisposition was **The**rvoir dire of Christine Benfield also

instructs. She was

disposed against the death penalty, but could follow the law and vote for death if the

aggravators outweighed the mitigators. The following colloquy occurred about the

killing of a police officer (TR:737-38):

THE COURT: The question that I'm asking do you think if somebody kills a police officer, the only sentence is the death penalty or do you think - - . MS. BANFIELD: I believe that that's the way it is. THE COURT: Okay. When you say you believe that's the way it is, what do you mean by that? MS. BANFIELD: I believe that's the law, isn't it? THE COURT: Well, if that were the law -- we know that a police officer was killed and he was convicted of First Degree Murder. If that were the law, our job would be very easy, because if there's only one sentence to be imposed --MS. BANFIELD: I'm putting it this way. I know that's a very strong possibility.

The record of predisposition of jurors to vote for death of copkillers is set forth

here in detail because it plays a part in several of the issues Ricardo Gonzalez has

presented for review.

B. The State showed several overlapping statutory aggravators.

At the advisory sentencing hearing, the State presented evidence to establish six

statutory aggravating factors.

The first of these was, pursuant to Florida Statutes §921.141(5)(b), previous conviction by the defendant of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to some person. The State had presented evidence that Ricardo Gonzalez had taken part in the

armed robbery of the Kislak Bank and teller Michelle Chin and had engaged in an aggravated assault of teller LaSonya Hadley. The Court instructed the jury that it could consider these contemporaneous felony convictions for purposes of deciding whether the statutory aggrevator had been proven (R:184) (TR:1829).

The State sought to prove the aggrevator allowed by §924.141(5)(d) on the grounds that the sentencing crime had been committed while the defendant was engaged in a robbery. The State presented evidence that the victim was killed during a robbery of the Kislak Bank and the Court instructed the jury as to the availability of this aggrevator (R:185) (TR:1829).

The State also sought an aggrevator pursuant to §921.141(5)(e) in that the crime to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding arrest. Again, the Court instructed the jury as to availability of this aggravating factor (R:186) (TR:1829).

The State sought consideration of the aggravating factor pursuant to \$921.141(5)(f) in that the crime had been committed for financial gain. The Court instructed the jury as to this aggrevator (R:187) (TR:1829).

The State sought the statutory aggrevator under 921.141(5)(g) in that the crime was committed to disrupt or hinder governmental function or enforcement of the law. The Court instructed the jury as to this aggrevator (R:188) (TR:1830).

Finally, the government sought to establish the aggrevator under 921.141(5)(j)

that the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of the officer's official duties. The court instructed the jury as to the availability of this aggrevator (R:189)(TR:1830).

Since there is considerable overlap among these six aggravators, the Court gave the "doubling instruction" to the jury: "If you find that two or more of the aggravating circumstances are proven beyond a reasonable doubt by single aspect of the offense, you are to consider that as supporting only one aggravating circumstance" (R:190) (TR:1830).

In a sentencing order entered on September 18, 1998, the Court found each of the six aggravators to have been established, but weighed them and consolidated them as follows (R:245):

1. Previous conviction: This aggrevator was found to have been proven and entitled to "some weight."

2. The capital felony was committed while the defendant was engaged in the commission of a robbery: The Court found this aggrevator to have been established and that it was entitled to "great weight."

3. The capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain: Again, the Court found that this aggrevator had been proven, but that it merged with the aggrevator of

6

the capital felony having been committed during the course of an armed robbery.

4. The capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest: The Court found this aggrevator to have been proven and gave it "great weight."

5. The crime was committed to disrupt the enforcement of the laws: The Court found this aggrevator to have been established, but found it to have merged with the aggrevator that the crime was committed to avoid lawful arrest and, therefore, was given no additional weight.

6. The victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties: The Court found this aggrevator to have been proven and gave it great weight, but found that it merged with the aggravators of avoiding lawful arrest and hindering enforcement of the laws. The Court considered these three aggravating circumstances as one.

Consequently, the Court found three aggravators. The victim's status as a law enforcement officer, the defendant's conduct to avoid lawful arrest and his efforts to hinder enforcement of the laws were merged into one. The defendant's contemporaneous convictions were a second. The defendant's commission of a robbery and seeking pecuniary gain merged into a third aggravating factor.

Ricardo Gonzalez will present argument below that the consolidated aggravators

arising from the victim's status as a law enforcement officer have already been considered in elevating the minimum mandatory sentence. As a consequence, this factor should not be counted again in deciding whether Gonzalez should be sentenced to death.

C. The defense presented competent substantial evidence of neuropsychological and psychological mitigators.

The appellant sought application of the statutory mitigating circumstances under \$921.141(6)(a) of no significant history of prior criminal activity. The Court found this mitigator to be present, and found it to be entitled to "some weight." (R:249).

Ricardo Gonzalez also sought statutory mitigation under §921.141(6)(b) because he "was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance." The expert testimony of Dr. Hyman Eisenstein, a board certified clinical neuro-psychologist, was presented to establish this mitigator. Although Dr. Eisenstein's testimony was uncontroverted, the Court rejected this mitigator (R:249-253). This rejection is discussed in Argument II below.

In addition, the Court found as nonstatutory mitigators the defendant's brain damage and psychological problems, his remorse, his cooperation with the authorities and his good conduct in custody and potential for rehabilitation (R:256-258). However, each of these factors were given "little weight." D. During closing argument, the prosecutor inserted personal opinion to mock the defense expert's presenting mitigation evidence.

The prosecutor attempted to interject his personal beliefs about the experts called by the defense. He said: "[I] think in one sentence or two, [Frank Lloyd Wright] summarized my beliefs about the next few people I'm going to be talking about" (TR:1785). Defense counsel objected and the Court ruled: "Sustain the form of the argument. Don't tell us your personal beliefs" (*Id*.)

If Frank Lloyd Wright had anything to tell the jury of value to their deliberative process, it got lost in the dust. Once the objection had been sustained, the prosecution went on to other matters. The jury never learned what Frank Lloyd Wright would have added to the jury's deliberative process.

The prosecutor went on to say: "And my trial partners were tougher on me that night. They said, "oh, you would have been much more tough on Dr. Fisher." (TR:1787-88). A defense objection was overruled (TR:1788).

The prosecutor did not miss a beat:

Should have been much more tough on Dr. Fisher. I just should have sort of jumped on his case and really yelled at him because nothing he said made sense. Well the truth was, it was a silly conclusion. Want to know why? * * * If he had met the defendant the day before the murder, knowing everything that he knows, all of the tests, all of the information that he has, he would have said on that day, on January 2, 1992, this defendant will never commit a violent act. And twenty-four

hours later, he would have been wrong to the tune of one bank robbery and one dead police officer. * * * That's not science. That's not mitigation. That's guesswork. And I'm not here to guess about the future. I'm here to tell you that when the defendant committed those acts, he committed them because he wanted to, not for any other reason (TR:1788).

The court *sua sponte* revisited the last objection and sustained it; he instructed the jury to "disregard the comment about what the other prosecutor's opinions were about the testimony of that doctor" (TR:1789).

Later, defense counsel sought mistrial; "on the characterization where [the prosecutor] had informed the jury that he was having a fight with co-counsel on what his trial partners thought about how he should deal with those experts. And since he trashed the experts, I think that interjects a personal opinion by the prosecutor into the case and that's improper" (TR:1844). The Court agreed, but noted that the jury had been given a curative instruction and denied the motion for a mistrial (TR:1845).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The Custodial statement of a non-testifying accomplice which implicates the defendant has been held to be inherently too unreliable to permit its admission into evidence on Sixth Amendment Confrontation Clause grounds. Consequently, the admission of such evidence is error, subject to harmless error review. This Court conducted such review, but subsequent Supreme Court of The United States authority suggests that this review was incorrectly conducted. The weight of the other evidence, and the degree of corroboration provided by that evidence to the accomplice's statement is meaningful analysis for hearsay rule purposes, but is inapplicable to Confrontation Clause analysis. Therefore, the Court's affirmance of Appellant's conviction should be overturned.

II. The fact that Appellant killed a police officer while that officer was engaged in the performance of his official duties played a great role in the sentencing process which led to the imposition of the sentence of death. These very factors had already been considered by the Legislature in elevating the penalty for Appellant's crime from life without parole for 25 years to life without eligibility for release. Recounting these factors in the death decision constitutes impermissible double counting.

III. Appellant presented uncontroverted expert testimony in mitigation that he suffered from an organic brain dysfunction classified as Pugilistic Encephalogophathy. The sentencing Judge dismissed this testimony on the ground that it was not supported by the facts in the record. However, the Court focused on the planning for the robbery and ignored the impulsive nature of Appellant's unplanned use of the weapon and ignored the fact that the use of the weapon was an utterly aberration episode in Appellant's entire life. Both of these factors support the diagnosis of the impulsive behavior and the Court's rejection of this mitigator was error.

IV. In his closing argument, the prosecutor appealed in the passions of the jury to reject the mitigators presented by defense experts, whom he called hired guns, gullible and lacking in common sense. This scorn was supplemented by the prosecutor's discussion with the jury about the prosecution's team's personal rejection of the defense mitigation evidence.

V. Proportionality analysis of the death sentence in this case requires that the death sentence imposed against Appellant Ricardo Gonzalez be vacated. The aggravating factors established by the state really merge into two: the victim's status and conduct as a law enforcement officer and Appellant's conduct of participating in a robbery that gave rise to contemporaneous felony convictions. The first of these aggravators has already been counted in establishing the minimum sentence. Against these aggravators is the mitigator rejected by the Court of Appellant's organically based impulsivity. Where such substantial mitigation has been shown, the death penalty is not proportional.

ARGUMENT

I. Custodial statements of non-testifying accomplices that inculpate the defendant are inherently too unreliable to be admitted at trial. Can the error of admitting such statements be harmless under the hearsay rule because that there is sufficient corroboration or must the harmless error analysis consider the

defendant's loss of the dynamic of the confrontation process as a producer of truthful evidence?

In his initial appeal to this Court from his conviction and sentence of death, Ricardo Gonzalez assigned as error the admission into evidence of the custodial confessions of his non-testifying accomplices Leonardo Franque and Pablo San Martin. ¹ The reported cases in this area of the law reflect a conflict between the "Hearsay Rule" focus on whether the statement is sufficiently corroborated by other evidence to be likely to be true and the "Confrontation Clause" focus on whether the circumstances under which the statement was made are sufficiently indicative of truth to render unnecessarily the truth producing process of cross examination.

The tension between these two foci is seen in this Court's opinion in *Gonzalez v. State*²:

In this case, there is no question that both Franqui's confession and San Martin's confession interlocked with Gonzalez's confession in many respects and was substantially incriminating to Gonzalez. Moreover, we cannot say that the totality of the circumstances under which Franque and San Martin made their confessions demonstrated the particularized guarantee of trustworthiness sufficient to overcome the presumption of unreliability that attaches to accomplice's hearsay confessions which implicates the defendant.

¹ Gonzalez v. State, 700 So.2d 1217, 1218 (Fla.1977)

² *Id.* AT 1219

The United States Supreme Court in *Lilly v. Virginia* recently considered the interaction of the Confrontation Clause and the hearsay rule in the admission of an out of court confession by an accomplice that implicates the accused. Justice Stevens, writing for the plurality, framed the issue: "The question presented in this case is whether the accused's Sixth Amendment right 'to be confronted with the witnesses against him' was violated by admitting into evidence at his trial a nontestifying accomplice's entire confession that contained some statements against the accusplice's penal interest and others that inculpated the accused." ³

The Supreme Court began its analysis of whether the Supreme Court of Virginia properly affirmed the admission of such testimony by noting that "the question of whether the statements fall within a firmly rooted hearsay exception for Confrontation Clause purposes is a question of federal law."⁴ Next, the Court observed that "the simple categorization of a statement as a " 'declaration against penal interest' defines too large a class for meaningful Confrontation Clause analysis." ⁵ Consequently, the statement against penal interest basis for admission of out of court statements was broken down into three parts: admissions admitted against the declarant; exculpatory

³ 119 S.Ct 1887, 1892 (1999)

⁴ *Id.* at 1894

⁵ *Id* at 1895, citing *Lee v. Illinois*, 476 U.S. 530, 544 n. 5, 106 S.Ct. 2056, 90 L.Ed.2d (1986).

evidence offered by the defendant to shift the blame to a declarant; and statements by an accomplice that incriminate the defendant. Neither *Lilly* nor this case involve the first and second aspects of this rule. Both involve the third, where an accomplice has confessed, incriminating the defendant, and the accomplice's confession is offered without the opportunity for confrontation.

Lilly observed that "this third category of hearsay encompasses statements that are inherently unreliable. Typical of the groundswell of scholarly and judicial criticism that culminated in the *Chambers* decision, Wigmore's treatise still expressly distinguishes accomplices' confessions that inculpate themselves and the accused beyond a proper understanding of the against-penal-interest exception because an accomplice often has a considerable interest in 'confessing and betraying his co-criminals." ⁶

Justice Breyer wrote a concurring opinion which provided an historical perspective on the Confrontation Clause. "As traditionally understood the right [of confrontation] was designed to prevent, for example, the kind of abuse that permitted the Crown to convict Sir Walter Raleigh of treason on the basis of the out-of-court confession of Lord Cobham, a co-conspirator."⁷

⁶ *Id* at 1897, citations omitted

⁷ *Id* at 1902

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