## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 94,154

RICARDO GONZALEZ,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

## BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

SANDRA S. JAGGARD
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0012068
Office of the Attorney General
Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950
444 Brickell Avenue
Miami, Florida 33131
PH. (305) 377-5441
FAX (305) 377-5654

#

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

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Any issue regarding the admissibility of the codefendants' confessions is barred by law of the case. The fact that the United States Supreme Court has now agreed with this Court's analysis of why admitting the confessions was error does not present a compelling reason to revisit this Court's ruling that the error was harmless. Moreover, any error was indeed harmless.

The fact that the Legislature has eliminated parole eligibility for murderers of police officers does not result in double consideration of an aggravating circumstance. Lack of parole eligibility is a mitigating, not an aggravating, factor. Further, the use of the police officer victim aggravating factor does limit the class of defendants for whom death is appropriate.

The trial court's rejection of the extreme mental or emotional distress mitigating factor is supported by competent, substantial evidence. The testimony in support of this factor was contradicted by the facts of the case, Defendant's life history and the testimony of other defense witness.

Issues related to the comments by the prosecutor during closing are unpreserved. Defendant either did not object or his objection was sustained and he did not contemporaneously request any further relief. Further, the comments were proper, and any error was harmless.

Defendant's sentence is proportionate. This Court has

affirmed death sentences in similar circumstances. The cases relied upon by Defendant were less aggravated and more mitigated.

## **ARGUMENT**

I. THERE IS NO BASIS FOR REVISITING THIS COURT'S PRIOR HOLDING THAT THE ADMISSION OF THE CODEFENDANTS' CONFESSIONS DURING THE GUILT PHASE WAS HARMLESS ERROR, WHERE THIS COURT CONDUCTED THE ANALYSIS THAT DEFENDANT ASSERTS SHOULD HAVE BEEN CONDUCTED AND THE CASE UPON WHICH DEFENDANT RELIES IS SILENT REGARDING THE ISSUE OF HARMLESS ERROR.

Defendant initially asserts that this Court should revisit its determination that the admission of the codefendants' statements during the guilt phase of Defendant's trial was harmless error. Defendant relies on Lilly v. Virginia, 119 S. Ct. 1887 (1999), to claim that this Court should not have considered the interlocking nature of the statements in determining their admissibility. However, such reliance is misplaced, and the issue is entirely devoid of merit.

Under principals of law of the case, an appellate court should not consider a prior decision in a case except in exceptional circumstances. Strazzulla v. Hendrick, 177 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1965); see also Brunner Enter. v. Dept. of Revenue, 452 So. 2d 550 (Fla. 1984). Here, Defendant raised the propriety of the admission of the codefendants' confessions during the guilt phase in his last appeal. Gonzalez v. State, 700 So. 2d 1217 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 118 S. Ct. 1393 (1998) and 118 S. Ct. 1856 (1998). This Court found that the admission of the confessions was error but was harmless in the guilt phase. While Defendant contends that the

United States Supreme Court changed the law governing this issue in Lilly, that Court itself made it clear that it was not doing so. Lilly, 119 S. Ct. at 1899 n.5. The Court stated that it was merely reaffirming its prior holdings. Id. As such, there is no reason to revisit this issue, which is barred by law of the case.

Moreover, the basis of Defendant's argument is that this Court analyzed the admissibility of the codefendants' confession under the statement against penal interest hearsay exception and not under the Confrontation Clause. However, a review of this Court's opinion shows that it did exactly the opposite. This Court relied upon its decision in Franqui v. State, 699 So. 2d 1312 (Fla. 1997). Gonzalez, 700 So. 2d at 1218-19. In Franqui, this Court rejected the claim that the hearsay exception for statements against penal interests was firmly rooted in Florida law. Franqui, 699 So. 2d at 1319. This is in accordance with the United States Supreme Court's rejection of this claim in Lilly. Lilly, 119 S. Ct. at 1897-99.

Having rejected the hearsay analysis, this Court then proceeded to determine that the codefendants' confessions were not made under circumstances that provided particularized guarantees of trustworthiness. *Gonzalez*, 700 So. 2d at 1219. Again, this analysis is in accordance with the second step of the Confrontation Clause analysis used in *Lilly*. *Lilly*, 119 S. Ct. at 1894, 1899-1901 (plurality opinion); *Id.* at 1901-03 (Breyer, J., concurring); *Id.* at 1903-05 (Rehnquist, C.J., concurring in judgment); see also

Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980). As such, this Court's analysis of the admissibility of the codefendants' confessions is exactly the analysis endorsed by the United States Supreme Court in Lilly. Lilly does not provide a basis for revisiting this issue.

Further, this Court determined that the admission of the codefendants' confessions was error but harmless. Lilly did not address the standard to be used in conducting such an analysis. In fact, the Court remanded Lilly to the Supreme Court of Virginia to conduct such a harmless error analysis because the Virginia court had not previously done so, having found the admission of the statement was not error. Id. at 1901. Thus, Lilly again supports this Court's use of the harmless error analysis and does not demonstrate that it was error to have conducted such an analysis.

While Defendant contends that this Court should not have considered the corroboration of the codefendants' confessions under Lilly, there is nothing in Lilly to support this contention. In fact, Lilly cites to Idaho v. Wright, 497 U.S. 805 (1990). In Wright, the Court noted that the presence of corroborating evidence was relevant to the harmless error analysis. Id. at 823 ("[T]he presence of corroborating evidence more appropriately indicates that any error in admitting the statement might be harmless."); see also Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 432 (1972)(fact that codefendant's confession was consistent with defendant's confession relevant to harmless error analysis). As such, this Court could

properly have considered the corroborative evidence in making its determination that the error was harmless.

Moreover, this Court did not even do so. Instead, this Court looked at the overwhelming nature of the evidence against Defendant. Gonzalez, 700 So. 2d at 1219. The United States Supreme Court has itself used such considerations in determining that the error in the admission of a codefendant's confession was In Harrington v. California, 395 U.S. 250, 254 (1969), harmless. the defendant admitted (in his own confession) to being present at the scene of a robbery murder, but did not admit participating in the crime. The improperly admitted confessions of two codefendants identified him as a participant. One codefendant testified at trial that the defendant was there and was armed, but did not indicate whether he participated. Two eyewitnesses who identified the (white) defendant had previously stated that all the participants were black. The Court nevertheless concluded that the evidence of the defendant's guilt apart from the improper confessions was overwhelming, and as such any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Harrington, 395 U.S. at 253-54. The Court cautioned that the question of harmlessness is not merely one of "overwhelming evidence," but rather, of what the probable impact of the improper evidence would have been on the jury in light of the entire record. 395 U.S. at 254. Plainly, however, as the Court's analysis in Harrington demonstrates, that "probable impact" will

usually diminish in inverse proportion to the weight of the remaining, properly admitted, evidence.

As in Harrington, the Court observed in Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S. 427, 432 (1972):

In some cases the properly admitted evidence of guilt is so overwhelming, and the prejudicial effect of the codefendant's admission is so insignificant by comparison, that it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the improper use of the admission was harmless error.

Schneble, 405 U.S. at 430. In Schneble, the petitioner's (second)<sup>2</sup> confession was detailed, internally consistent, and corroborated by the objective evidence. 405 U.S. at 431. The court concluded that not only, as in Harrington, was the other evidence of guilt overwhelming, but because the codefendant's statement merely corroborated Schneble's, the error was harmless. Id. Under such circumstances, the Court concluded that "an average jury would not have found the State's case significantly less persuasive had" the codefendant's confession been excluded, and the error was therefore harmless. 405 U.S. at 432. In Brown v. United States, 411 U.S. 223, 231 (1973), the error was also determined to be harmless where there was "other overwhelming and largely uncontroverted evidence properly before the jury." 411 U.S. at 231. As this Court conducted a proper analysis of the harmlessness of the error in this matter, there is no reason for this Court to reconsider its

Unlike Defendant, Schneble had given an initial statement denying complicity.

prior decision, and Defendant's request that this Court do so should be rejected.

# II. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE CONSIDERATION OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE THAT DEFENDANT KILLED A LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER, WHO WAS ENGAGED IN THE PERFORMANCE OF OFFICIAL DUTIES, WAS IMPROPER IS UNPRESERVED AND WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant next contends that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on, and considering, the aggravating factor related to Officer Bauer's status as a police officer. Defendant asserts that this aggravating factor was improper because the Legislature had authorized an enhancement to the possible life sentence because the victim was a law enforcement officer. However, this claim is unpreserved and meritless.

In the trial court, Defendant did not move to preclude consideration of this aggravating factor. Defendant did not object to the giving of a jury instruction on the aggravating factor that Officer Bauer was a law enforcement officer, engaged in the performance of his official duties. Defendant did not argue to the trial court during the *Spencer* hearing that consideration of this aggravating factor was improper. As such, this issue is not preserved. *Larzelere v. State*, 676 So. 2d 394, 407 & n.7 (Fla.), cert. denied, 512 U.S. 1043 (1996)(claim that consideration of aggravating factor improper unpreserved if not raised in trial court).

Even if this issue had been preserved, it is meritless. The fact that the Legislature elected to remove parole eligibility from the possible life sentence does not make the lack of parole

eligibility an aggravating factor. §921.141(6), Fla. Stat. As such, no impermissible doubling of aggravating factors occurred. See Echols v. State, 484 So. 2d 568, 574-75 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 479 U.S. 871 (1986)(impermissible doubling occurs when the same aspect of the crime or of defendant's character is used to support two aggravating factors). In fact, the lack of parole eligibility is generally considered a mitigating factor. Simmons v. South Carolina, 512 U.S. 154 (1994); Jones v. State, 569 So. 2d 1234, 1239-40 (Fla. 1990). It was argued as such here. (T. 1804) Thus, the removal of parole eligibility did not result in double consideration of any aggravating factor, and Defendant's claim should be rejected.

Defendant's attempt to analogize this aggravating factor to the aggravating factor of during the commission of a felony is particularly unavailing. This Court has repeatedly rejected the claim that the during the course of felony aggravating circumstance is improper. E.g., Sims v. State, 681 So. 2d 1112 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1199 (1997); Kearse v. State, 662 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 1995); Parker v. State, 641 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 1994), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 1131 (1995); Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1159 (1996); Stewart v. State, 588 So. 2d 972 (Fla. 1991), cert. denied, 503 U.S. 972 (1992); Clark v. State, 443 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 1983), cert. denied, 467 U.S. 1210 (1984); Menendez v. State, 419 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 1982); see

also Lowenfield v. Phelps, 484 U.S. 231 (1988). As such, if this aggravating factor was considered analogous to that aggravating factor, there would be no basis for finding the factor improper.

Further, even the rationale behind Justice Anstead's concurrence in *Blanco v. State*, 706 So. 2d 7, 12-15 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 119 S. Ct. 96 (1998), does not justify Defendant's argument here. There, Justice Anstead was concerned that the felony murder aggravator did not genuinely narrow the class of persons eligible for the death penalty. He believed that since the fact that the murder was committed during the course of an enumerated felony made the murder a first degree murder, the inclusion of the felony murder aggravator did not limit the class of death-eligible defendants.

The same cannot be said of the law enforcement aggravator. Defendant's crime did not become a first degree murder because he killed a police officer and not all first degree murders involve the killing of a police officer. As such, the application of this aggravator does limit the class of death-eligible defendants, and the rationale behind Justice Anstead's concurrence is inapplicable to this situation. Therefore, Defendant's claim should be rejected.

# III. THE TRIAL COURT'S REJECTION OF THE EXTREME MENTAL OR EMOTIONAL DISTRESS MITIGATOR IS SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND SHOULD BE AFFIRMED.

Defendant next asserts that the trial court erred in finding that the statutory mitigating circumstance of extreme mental or emotional distress had not been established. However, this finding of fact by the trial court is supported by competent, substantial evidence and must therefore be affirmed.

Initially, Defendant appears to confuse the standard of review in this case. As this Court has repeatedly stated, "whether a mitigating circumstance has been established by the evidence is a question of fact and subject to the competent, substantial evidence standard." Cave v. State, 727 So. 2d 227, 230 (Fla. 1998), cert. denied, 1999 WL 73704 (U.S. 1999); Blanco v. State, 706 So. 2d 7, 10 (Fla. 1997), cert. denied, 199 S. Ct. 96 (1998); Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 419 & n.5 (Fla. 1990). As this Court noted in Campbell, the trial court's finding is presumptively correct if supported by competent, substantial evidence. Campbell, 571 So. 2d at 419 n.5. Thus, it is the trial court's finding that must be supported by competent, substantial evidence; not the mitigating circumstance itself.

Here, the trial court's findings regarding this circumstance were:

Dr. Hyman Eisenstein, a board certified clinical neuro-psychologist testified on behalf of the defendant at the hearing. Dr.

Eisenstein opined that the defendant acted in a state of extreme mental and/or emotional disturbance due to his martial demands, developmental history of shuffling back and forth between family members, educational and language deficiencies, emotional state, history of boxing and brain damage, inability to control impulses, and lack of judgment.

In order to properly evaluate Dr. Eisenstein's ultimate opinion, a thorough discussion of his testimony, and a comparison of it to the other evidence in the case, is appropriate. As the Florida Supreme Court stated in *Walls v. State*, 641 So. 2d 381 (Fla. 1994):

"[A] distinction exists between factual evidence, and opinion As a general testimony. rule, uncontroverted factual evidence cannot simply be rejected unless it contrary to law, improbable, untrustworthy, unreasonable contradictory....Opinion testimony, on the other hand, is not subject to the same rule... Certain kinds of opinion testimony clearly admissible -especially and qualified expert opinion testimony but they are not necessarily binding even if uncontroverted. Opinion testimony gains its greatest force to the degree it is supported by the facts at hand, and its weight diminishes to the degree support is lacking."

Dr. Eisenstein had the defendant perform a number of tests. These tests allowed the doctor to evaluate the defendant's intelligence, motor skills, cognitive skills and language skills. The court will discuss the result of many of these tests.

The doctor first asked the defendant to perform a grip strength test. The test showed that the right hand was in the normal range but the left hand was slightly impaired. Dr. Eisenstein opined that the damage to the right hemisphere of the defendant's brain could account for the lesser strength in his left

hand. On cross-examination, however, the doctor admitted that the defendant's left index finger had been severed years earlier when a car battery exploded and this hand injury could account for the difference in grip strength between one hand and the other.

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